

# THE TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY SYSTEM

Office of HUB & Procurement Programs

# REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP Number: RFP01 RISK-16-016
Retiree & COBRA Billing

# PROPOSAL MUST BE RECEIVED BEFORE: 2:00 p.m. CDT on June 17, 2016

### MAIL, HAND DELIVER, OR EXPRESS MAIL PROPOSAL TO:

Attention: Jeff Zimmermann
The Texas A&M University System
Office of HUB & Procurement Programs
301 Tarrow, Suite 366
College Station, TX 77840

**Show RFP Number, Opening Date and Time on Response Envelope** 

**NOTE:** PROPOSAL must be time stamped at <u>The Texas A&M University System Office of HUB & Procurement Programs</u> before the hour and date specified for receipt of proposal.

Pursuant to the Provisions of Texas Government Code Title 10, Chapter 2156.121-2156.127, sealed proposals will be received until the date and time established for receipt. After receipt, only the names of Respondents will be made public. Prices and other proposal details will only be divulged after the award, if one is made.

### **REFER INQUIRIES TO:**

Jeff Zimmermann, Director The Texas A&M University System Office of HUB & Procurement Programs

Email: jzimmermann@tamus.edu

All proposals shall become the property of the State of Texas upon receipt. Proposals may be subject to public review after contracts have been executed. Refer to Section 3.4*l*. for more information regarding confidential and proprietary information.

# **TABLE of CONTENTS**

SECTION	N 1 – DEFINITIONS	3
1.1	Definitions	3
SECTION	N 2 – INTRODUCTION	4
2.1	Scope of Proposal Overview	4
2.2	THE TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY SYSTEM	4
2.3	Benefit Philosophy	4
2.4	Priorities/Expectations	5
SECTION	N 3 – INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSORS	6
3.1	Schedule of Proposal Process	6
3.2	Schedule of Implementation	6
3.3	Period of Performance	6
3.4	Structure of Proposal	7
3.5	GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS	10
3.6	CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	12
3.7	COMMUNICATIONS AND ENROLLMENT	13
SECTION	N 4 – GENERAL ADMINISTRATION	14
4.1	Required Services	14
SECTION	N 5 – RETIREE BILLING	15
5.1	CURRENT STATUS OF RETIREE BILLING	15
5.2	Current Billing Procedure	15
5.3	CANCELLATION FOR NON-PAYMENT OF PREMIUMS	16
5.4	DATA ENTRY: REINSTATEMENT OF COVERAGE DUE TO CANCELLATION	16
5.5	SERVICES THAT WILL CONTINUE TO BE MAINTAINED BY THE A&M SYSTEM	16
5.6	New Required Vendor Services	16
SECTION	N 6 – COBRA BILLING	18
6.1	CURRENT STATUS OF COBRA BILLING	18
6.2	Current Billing Procedure	19
6.3	SERVICES THAT WILL CONTINUE TO BE MAINTAINED BY THE A&M SYSTEM	19
6.4	New Required Vendor Services	19
SECTION	N 7 – EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS	20
7.1	EVALUATION INFORMATION	20
EXHIBIT	T A – EXECUTION OF OFFER	21
EXHIBIT	T B – NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT	23
EXHIBIT	T C – COMPANY PROFILE	24
EXHIBIT	T D – QUESTIONNAIRE	25
EXHIBIT	T E - THE TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY SYSTEM HIPAA BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT	28

### **SECTION 1 – DEFINITIONS**

### 1.1 Definitions

The following provides a definition of acronyms and abbreviated phrases used throughout this document.

**A&M System** – The Texas A&M University System

**ASO** – Administrative Services Only

HIPAA BAA - Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act Business Associate Agreement

HSP – Historically Underutilized Business Subcontracting Plan

**HUB** – Historically Underutilized Business

**PEPM** – Per Employee, Per Month

**Proposer/Respondent** – the individual, partnership, corporation, or other entity responding to this RFP

**RFP** – Request for Proposals

**SORMBA** – System Office of Risk Management and Benefits Administration

**System Members** – The A&M System is composed of System Members located throughout the state of Texas; eleven academic institutions, seven state agencies, two service units, and a comprehensive health science center. The System Offices (headquarters) for the A&M System are located in College Station.

**TDI** – Texas Department of Insurance

**TPIA** – Texas Public Information Act

### **SECTION 2 – INTRODUCTION**

### 2.1 Scope of Proposal Overview

The A&M System is interested in receiving responses to this request for proposals (RFP) from qualified vendors licensed to operate in the state of Texas to provide retiree and COBRA billing services beginning Spring, 2017. The A&M System desires proposals that represent the best combination of quality and cost.

The A&M System currently does retiree billing internally and requires each vendor (medical, dental and vision) to handle COBRA billing. This includes billing and ACH for retirees, surviving spouses and dependents and also includes these services for employees on leave without pay.

This RFP provides detailed information about the A&M System and the services being requested and provides the required format for the vendor's response. Proposals containing deviations are strongly discouraged. If included, deviations must be identified and described in detail in order to be considered. While a proposal with minor deviations from the RFP will not be disqualified, preference will be given to prospective vendors whose proposals contain the fewest and least significant deviations from the requirements presented herein.

# 2.2 The Texas A&M University System

The Texas A&M University System is one of the largest systems of higher education in the nation, with a statewide network of 11 universities, seven state agencies, two service units and a comprehensive health science center.

A&M System members educate more than 140,000 students and make more than 22 million additional educational contacts through service and outreach programs each year. Externally funded research expenditures exceed \$932 million and help drive the state's economy. Its flagship campus, Texas A&M University, is ranked among the top 20 research universities in the nation by the National Science Foundation.

Additional information regarding each of the A&M System members can be found online at <a href="http://www.tamus.edu/about/">http://www.tamus.edu/about/</a>.

### 2.3 Benefit Philosophy

The A&M System's benefit programs are viewed as an important part of the total compensation package for its employees and retirees. It is expected that the benefits offered will attract new employees, promote the retention of career employees and reward retired employees for their service. Therefore, superior quality and responsiveness to participants' needs are essential.

The A&M System is committed to providing eligible employees, retired employees and their dependents access to group benefit plans of the highest quality at the lowest possible cost to the A&M System and to its employees. The manner in which the programs are funded demands strict containment of costs in order to maximize benefits for the beneficiaries.

A&M System retirees are eligible for all System benefits with the exception of Long-Term Disability and Flexible Spending Accounts. With the outsourcing of the retiree billing, we will not be allowing retirees who return to work to have their benefit premiums deducted from their paychecks. Once they retire, premiums must be paid by ACH or paid by check. The authority to plan, implement and control the

A&M System's benefit programs is assigned to the Director of Risk Management and Benefits Administration (the Director). The Employee Benefits Manager, reporting to the Director, has the responsibility for the operation and administration of the employee benefit plans.

The System Office of Risk Management and Benefits Administration (SORMBA) staff monitors plan experience, negotiates carrier contracts, and maintains official records, and ensures quality, efficiency, and statutory compliance in the benefit plans. SORMBA also maintains, reports, and analyzes claims and financial data related to the plans. It is the responsibility of each System Member to inform employees and retirees of their insurance eligibility, advise them about options and perform enrollment and counseling functions. These activities are usually performed in the Human Resource and/or Payroll departments of each System Member.

The plans are not ERISA plans; however, for the most part, we do comply with ERISA.

### 2.4 Priorities/Expectations

RESPONDENTS should note the following priorities/expectations with regard to the possibility of A&M System establishing a contractual relationship with any RESPONDENT:

- (a) Ensuring a Quality Level of Service. This priority encompasses the quality of the level of service that can be provided to all A & M System customers in a timely, cost effective manner. A & M System is seeking a RESPONDENT that will ensure the provision of such quality in its delivery of service through proven training techniques and established metrics.
- (b) Level of Experience and Expertise. RESPONDENT must demonstrate its capabilities in providing the utmost level of experience and expertise to ensure a successful solution as determined by A & M System. RESPONDENT shall provide information describing the RESPONDENT'S managed services and project execution experience, including the experience of the resources, account managers, and other key personnel on similar engagements, including past experience within the Texas A&M University System.
- (c) Delivery Efficiency as it Relates to Total Costs. RESPONDENT must demonstrate its ability to deliver the required solution in a cost-effective and timely manner while not sacrificing the quality required by a Tier I research System.
- (d) *Financial Stability*. RESPONDENT must demonstrate its financial stability and capabilities in providing the required solution.

### **SECTION 3 – INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSORS**

# 3.1 Schedule of Proposal Process

May 17, 2016	RFP posted to Electronic State Business Daily (ESBD)
May 27, 2016	Last day the A&M System will accept written questions
June 7, 2016	Response to written questions posted on ESBD
June 17, 2016	Written proposals received by 2:00 p.m., CDT
June 24, 2016	Finalist notifications
June 30, 2016	Oral presentations by selected finalists
July 8, 2016	Notification to selected Proposer

The A&M System will make every effort to adhere to the above schedule. The schedule, however, is subject to change.

# 3.2 Schedule of Implementation

Within 3 weeks from award	Vendor will provide first draft of Administrative Services Agreement, HIPAA Business Associate Agreement, and any other required legal documentation
August 31, 2016	Administrative Services Agreement, HIPAA Business Associate Agreement, and any other required legal documentation for Retiree billing and COBRA contracts completed and signed by both parties
August 31, 2016	All documents necessary for billing available for review

A "go-live" date in Spring 2017 is anticipated. The specific "go-live" date and all related testing and file transfer dates will be determined during planning sessions after an award is made.

### 3.3 Period of Performance

An initial three-year period of performance under a contract pursuant to this RFP will commence on September 1, 2016. Fees, expense schedules, charges, and management arrangements must be guaranteed for the three-year period through August 31, 2019. Assuming satisfactory performance and terms and fees are mutually agreed upon in writing prior to the expiration of the agreement, an affirmative renewal for up to two (2) years may be allowed. In the event of successive affirmative renewal(s), the maximum period of performance pursuant to this RFP ends August 31, 2021.

# 3.4 Structure of Proposal

The A&M System will not consider a proposal unless one original and two copies of the proposal are received no later than 2:00 p.m. CDT, June 17, 2016. The package containing the proposal must be clearly marked "RFP01 RISK-16-016 Retiree Billing and COBRA Outsourcing". In addition, **three copies** of the proposal response (saved in Microsoft Word) and required data files (saved in Microsoft Excel) must be provided on CD. Late responses will not be considered under any circumstances. Late proposals properly identified will be returned to Proposer unopened. Telephone or facsimile proposals or proposals submitted electronically are not acceptable under any circumstances. All proposals must be submitted according to the following guidelines:

- Hard copies of the proposal should be contained in a loose-leaf, three-ring notebook with the name of the proposing organization and "RFP01 RISK-16-016 Retiree Billing and COBRA Outsourcing" on the front and spine of the notebook cover.
- The name of the proposing organization and "RFP01 RISK-16-016 Retiree Billing and COBRA" should be written across the front of each CD. The CD should be placed in a sealed envelope with the same identifying information written across the front of the envelope, and attached or affixed inside the front cover of each hard copy notebook.
- All proposals must include *Section a*. through *Section o*. as described below. Each of these divisions of the notebook must be separated by index tabs titled to match each of the underlined titles in a. through o. below, i.e. "a. Contact Information".
- Information or exhibits you wish to provide that are not specifically requested in *Section a*. through *Section o*. below should be included at the end of the proposal behind an index tab entitled "o. Supplemental Information".

Proposers are instructed to respond using the proposal format included in this RFP in order to expedite analysis and comparison of proposals received. Failure to use the stated format or failure to provide complete responses, may, at the A&M System's option, disqualify the proposer.

A complete proposal will consist of the following:

- a. <u>Contact Information</u> Provide a contact name for this RFP response, including title, address, telephone number, facsimile, and email address.
- b. <u>Execution of Offer</u> The Execution of Offer provided in *Exhibit A* must be signed by Proposer's company official duly authorized and having the authority to legally bind and commit the proposing organization.
- c. <u>Non-Collusion Affidavit</u> The Non-Collusion Affidavit provided in *Exhibit B* must be signed and notarized.
- d. <u>Company Profile</u> Complete the Company Profile found in *Exhibit C* by providing your answer after each question.
- e. <u>Organizational Chart</u> Provide an organizational chart identifying the chain of authority through the company's CEO for this account. Include names, addresses, titles, email addresses, and telephone numbers for each individual.

- f. <u>Staffing</u> Describe the staff involved in the management of this group account. Include names, titles, addresses, email addresses, phone numbers and brief biographies of the following individuals or their organizational equivalents who will be assigned to the A&M System account:
  - National/Governmental Accounts, Director
  - Account Manager
  - Account Representative
  - Customer Service Manager
  - Eligibility File Coordinator
- g. <u>Installation Team Staffing</u> Describe the installation team and provide the names, titles, addresses, email addresses, phone numbers, and brief biographies of any individuals who are not included in f. above.

### h. References

- Provide the name, address, email address, and telephone number of the primary contact at two public entities or corporations and two major universities of similar size that are current clients of your company.
- Provide two references, including the name, address, email address, and telephone number for the individual who will have primary responsibility for the A&M System account.
- Provide the name, address, email address, and telephone number of the primary contact at two large accounts that have terminated their relationship with your organization within the past year.

The Proposer's response to this requirement officially authorizes the A&M System to contact these organizations to discuss the services and other considerations which the Proposer has provided to such organizations and authorizes the organizations to provide such information to the A&M System and Proposer shall and hereby does release and hold harmless the A&M System, the state of Texas, and the organization providing responses to the A&M System's questions of any and all liability whatsoever, in connection with providing and receiving all such information.

### i. Certification

- Certify that the proposing organization is legally able to contract with the State or any of its subdivisions.
- Certify that no commissions, broker or finders fees are included in the quoted fees or will be
  paid to any individual, agency or company, if your company is selected to provide the
  requested services for the A&M System.

### i. HUB Subcontracting Plan

It is the policy of the state of Texas and the A&M System to encourage the use of Historically Underutilized Businesses (HUBs) in our prime contracts, subcontractors, and purchasing transactions. The goal of the HUB program is to promote equal access and equal opportunity in A&M System contracting and purchasing.

Subcontracting opportunities are anticipated for this RFP and therefore a HUB Subcontracting Plan (HSP) is **required**. Failure to submit a comprehensive, acceptable HSP will be considered a material failure to comply with the requirements of the RFP and will result in rejection of the submittal. The HUB Subcontracting Plan shall be submitted **with** the RFP response by the date and time specified.

### The HSP form can be found at:

http://assets.system.tamus.edu/files/budgets-acct/pdf/hub\_reports/HSP\_rev0915.pdf .

Complete the HSP and submit it in *Section j.* of your RFP response. If there are pre-existing agreements in place with companies who will be hired as subcontractors, the respondent shall list those vendors as subcontractors on the HSP and provide an explanation as to why solicitations were not done, e.g. contractual requirements. If no pre-existing agreements with companies who will be hired as subcontractors exist, then the vendor will be expected to make a good faith effort according to the HSP instructions.

If the Respondent is completing as **self-performing** a statement which attests that the respondent shall perform the subcontracting opportunities identified by the agency, with its own employees and resources is required. The sections in the HSP form to be completed for self-performing are Section 1, 2a (check No), 3 with your statement included in the open text field, and 4.

For information regarding the HUB Subcontracting Plan requirements, please contact Jeff Zimmermann from the A&M System's HUB Program at (979) 458-6410 or <a href="mailto:jzimmermann@tamus.edu">jzimmermann@tamus.edu</a> for assistance in determining available HUB subcontractors and proper completion of the HSP. Respondents have the opportunity to submit a draft of the HSP prior to submittal of their response to the RFP for review by Mr. Zimmermann.

- k. <u>Questionnaire</u> This section should include the completed questionnaires found in *Exhibit D*. See information provided in Section 5 and Section 6 regarding each of the desired services.
- 1. <u>Confidential and Proprietary Information</u> In order to protect and prevent inadvertent access to confidential information submitted in the response, the Respondent is to provide a schedule of all pages that the Respondent in good faith, and with legally sufficient due diligence, considers to contain any confidential and/or proprietary information.

Information in any tangible form which is submitted by Respondents will be treated as confidential until such time as a contract is executed. After that time, the A&M System is required to provide access to certain records in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 552, Tex. Government Code, now known as the Texas Public Information Act (TPIA), formerly known as the Open Records Act. By submitting a response, the Respondent acknowledges and agrees that the A&M System shall have no liability to the Respondent or to any other person or entity for disclosing information in accordance with the TPIA. The A&M System shall not have any obligation or duty to advocate the confidentiality of the Respondent's material to the Texas Attorney General or to any other person or entity. The Respondent further understands and agrees that upon the A&M System's receipt of a TPIA request for a copy of the Respondent contract, including the response and any exhibits to the contract and response, the only documents that the A&M System shall treat as the Respondent's confidential and proprietary information shall be the documents the Respondent identifies as required above. It is the Respondent's sole obligation to advocate in good faith the confidential or proprietary nature of any information it provides in its response, and the Respondent understands that the Texas Attorney General may nonetheless determine that all or part of the claimed confidential or proprietary information shall be publicly disclosed.

In addition, the Respondent specifically agrees that the A&M System may release the Respondent's entire response, including alleged confidential or proprietary information, upon request from individual members, agencies or committees of the Texas Legislature where needed

for legislative purposes, as provided for in the TPIA or to any other person or entity as otherwise required by law.

- m. <u>Deviations</u> Although deviations to the RFP are discouraged, the Proposer shall enumerate and provide a detailed description of any deviations to provisions contained in the RFP. If your organization is unable to administer any portion of the services, as described in *Section 5.6 and 6.4* of this RFP, please provide details.
- n. <u>Alternative Proposal</u> The response to this RFP should be based on the services requested. However, should you wish to provide additional, alternative services, please provide that information and pricing, along with your rationale for doing so, in this section.
- o. <u>Supplemental Information</u> Information or exhibits provided that are not specifically requested in *Section a.* through *Section o.* above should be included at the end of the proposal behind an index tab entitled "o. Supplemental Information".
- p. <u>Costing</u> Please provide the following fees:

For COBRA: The fee per Contract Holder (PH/PM)
For Retiree Billing: The fee for each Retiree (PR/PM)

If you propose a different method, please explain:

### 3.5 General Instructions

- a. Each proposal shall be prepared simply and economically, providing a straightforward and concise description of the Proposer's ability to meet the requirements of this RFP. Emphasis shall be on completeness, clarity of content and responsiveness to the offer requirements.
- b. Proposals must be valid for a minimum of 180 days from the submittal deadline date to allow time for evaluation, selection, and any unforeseen delays.
- c. The Proposer agrees to protect the State from claims involving infringement of patents or copyrights as it relates to this RFP response.
- d. By submitting a proposal, Proposer agrees that Proposer and Proposer's employees and agents are independent vendors and have no employer-employee relationship with the A&M System. The A&M System shall not be responsible for the Federal Insurance Contribution Act payments, federal or state unemployment taxes, income tax withholding, Workers' Compensation Insurance payments, or any other insurance payments, nor will the A&M System furnish any medical or retirement benefits or any paid vacation or sick leave.
- e. Any agreement resulting from this RFP shall be construed and governed by the laws of the State of Texas.
- f. Written approval by the A&M System will be required for any news releases or the use of the A&M System's name as a reference regarding a contract awarded to a Proposer.
- g. Questions about the A&M System and this RFP should be submitted by email no later than 5:00 p.m. CST on May 27, 2016 and directed to Jeff Zimmermann at <u>jzimmermann@tamus.edu</u>.

h. Responses to all inquiries which directly affect an interpretation or change to this RFP will be issued in writing by amendment/addendum and posted to the ESBD. The amendment/addendum will include a list of all questions submitted by all firms, with responses, and will be available to all firms. All such amendments/addendums shall be considered part of the RFP, and the Respondent shall be required to consider such in its response. Only those inquiries replied to by formal written amendment/addendum shall be binding. Oral and other interpretations or clarification will be without legal effect. It is the responsibility of the interested vendors to regularly check the ESBD for any possible amendment/addendum to this RFP.

In the event an amendment/addendum is posted to the ESBD, Respondents are required to acknowledge receipt of such amendment/addendum in the Addenda Acknowledgment section of the Execution of Offer (*Exhibit A*).

- i. No reimbursement will be made by the A&M System for any expenses incurred in the preparation or presentation of proposals.
- j. Officers and employees of the A&M System may not have a direct or indirect interest in the gains or profits of any contract pursuant to this RFP, and may not receive pay or emolument for any service performed for the contractor(s).
- k. The A&M System will not designate an Agent of Record or any other such commissioned representative. All requests for the A&M System to provide such a designation will be rejected. The A&M System will communicate and negotiate only with principals of the Proposer. The A&M System will not pay commissions in the event that the Proposer chooses to name an agent of record and such an agent will not be recognized by the A&M System. In addition, no commission, broker or finders fees may be paid by the A&M System. You must certify in *Section i.* that you will abide by these stipulations.
- 1. Any planned or proposed use of subcontractors must be clearly documented in the proposal as discussed in *Section 3.4 j*. The Proposer shall be and remain solely responsible for all contract services. All agreements between the Proposer and its subcontractors shall include a provision agreeing to hold harmless and indemnify the A&M System.
- m. The execution of a contract pursuant to this RFP is dependent upon the negotiation of a contract with the selected Proposer and approval by the appropriate officials in accordance with the policies and regulations of the A&M System.
- n. The A&M System reserves the right to reject all offers and re-solicit or cancel this bid if it is deemed to be in the best interest of the A&M System.
- o. While it is the A&M System's intention to select one vendor for both the retiree billing and the COBRA billing, the A&M System reserves the right to select none, one or more Proposers.
- p. The A&M System is not required to select the lowest priced proposal, but will take into consideration other factors such as ability to service contracts, past experience, financial stability, flexibility, and other relevant criteria.
- q. The A&M System reserves the right to alter the specifications of its benefit programs and subsequently negotiate with the selected Proposer as needed to comply with any required changes.

r. In the event the selected organization fails to perform any of its duties or obligations as provided by the contract which will include the RFP and the Proposer's response to the RFP, the A&M System without limiting any other rights or remedies it may have by law, equity or under contract, shall have the right to terminate the contract immediately. The selected organization understands and acknowledges that, notwithstanding any termination of the contract, certain obligations shall survive the termination of the contract.

In addition to and without restricting or waiving any other legal, contractual or equitable remedies otherwise available to the A&M System, the A&M System may terminate the contract without cause by giving the selected organization ninety (90) days written notice.

In the event of a change in condition which may affect the billing services for which proposals are solicited, the A&M System will expect a good-faith effort from any Proposer selected, to absorb additional liabilities during the term of the contract without requiring rate increases until the next following renewal date. Such changes in condition include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Rules of the Texas Department of Insurance.
- Opinions of the Attorney General of the state of Texas.
- Federal and State statutes, court decisions and regulations from agencies and departments that may affect employment and benefit programs.
- s. Information provided to the Proposer, including lists of covered employees and retirees or other employee or retiree data may not be used to solicit any other insurance coverage, annuity product, or any other product, unless specifically approved in advance by the A&M System.
- t. The selected Proposer will be required to load files, and be ready to bill members in Spring 2017, as of a date to be selected with the chosen vendor after the contract is awarded.
- u. Your proposal may be rejected if:
  - it is not completed in accordance with RFP instructions,
  - it contains significantly inaccurate information, or
  - the A&M System believes that rejection of the proposal is in the best interest of the State and its employees and retirees.

### 3.6 Contract Documents

Within three weeks from notice of award of the RFP, the Proposer will provide a first draft of the documents listed below to System Benefits Administration in electronic format (preferably MS WORD) for review and edits. **Submission and completion of these documents is not required as part of the RFP response.** The A&M System anticipates receiving the following documents:

- a) Administrative Services Agreement In addition to the standard terms and conditions included in your Administrative Services Agreement, the selected Proposer must also include the following items:

that cannot be resolved	in the ordinary course of business.
shall submit written notice	of a claim of breach of contract
under this Chapter to the Executive Vice Chan	cellor and Chief Financial Officer
of the A&M System, who shall examine	claim and any
counterclaim and negotiate with	in an effort to resolve the
claim.	

- General Release and Indemnification Language should be included that will release, hold harmless, and unconditionally indemnify the A&M System, each and all of its System Members, its officers and employees, and the State of Texas from:
  - o Any liability that might result from discriminatory organizational practices; and
  - Any liability that arises from the acts or omissions of any officer, employee, agent, or representative of the contractor or individual or organization under contract to the contractor for specific services related to billing services.
- Ability to Audit Language should be included that will allow for audits to be performed
  by either the A&M System internal audit staff, the State Auditor's Office or a third party
  auditor contracted with the A&M System.
- b) HIPAA Business Associate Agreement In the interest of safeguarding our employees' and retirees' protected health information, the A&M System will require the execution of a HIPAA Business Associate Agreement documenting the selected Proposer's compliance with both the privacy and security rules as set forth by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act. The Business Associate Agreement is attached as *Exhibit G*. Completion of this document is not required as part of your response to this RFP. It is just to make you aware of the requirement and the proposed document to be used.

### 3.7 Communications and Enrollment

### **Retiree Billing**

The A&M System will distribute information regarding the change in the billing procedure. However, the A&M System will also require the selected vendor to distribute information regarding the change that will include any new required forms, etc. Costs associated with this process must be included in your proposal. All employee communication materials must be reviewed by the A&M System prior to release.

On a weekly basis throughout the year, the A&M System will report new retirees along with their premiums.

The A&M System will make personnel available to discuss plan information; however it is assumed that the selected vendor will also make personnel available to discuss billing and ACH processes and associated billing questions.

### **COBRA Billing**

The A&M System will require the selected Proposer to assist with those who are transitioning from the current billing method with the current vendors to the new method of billing through the selected vendor.

In addition, prior to annual enrollment periods, the A&M System will provide the selected vendor with the premiums for the new plan year, as well as any plan design changes, and it will be the selected vendor's responsibility to provide this information to the COBRA participants for annual enrollment and collect and process their changes.

### **SECTION 4 – GENERAL ADMINISTRATION**

### 4.1 Required Services

Notwithstanding other sections of this RFP which describe administrative interactions, Proposers are advised of the administrative requirements listed in this section of the RFP. The selected Proposer will become responsible for these items and services to the A&M System upon the award of any contract. Any cost associated with these items and services must be included in your proposal.

- 1. Management agreements, in addition to other documents required to formalize the A&M System's relationship with any carrier.
- 2. Communication materials necessary for the proper administration of the services required, subject to editing of format, content and final approval by the A&M System.
- 3. Monthly, quarterly, and annual reports, including but not limited to, enrollment, utilization, and customer satisfaction as agreed to by the A&M System and the Proposer.
- 4. Ad hoc analyses as requested by the A&M System which do not represent extraordinary data processing effort by the claim administrator.
- 5. Process eligibility information on a weekly basis via secure FTP.

# **SECTION 5 – Retiree Billing**

### 5.1 Current Status of Retiree Billing

- 1. There are currently 9,500 retirees and spouses with benefits. This number includes 475 surviving spouses with benefits. Currently, 150 employees on leave without pay are also billed. We estimate there may be as many as 10,000 retirees by September 1, 2017.
- 2. We would assume the potential for 500 new retirees (including surviving spouses) each subsequent year.
- 3. The A&M System actively promotes Bank Drafts (ACH withdrawals), limiting the number of retirees who pay by check. Retirees paying by ACH withdrawals do not receive monthly notices. Approximately 700 retirees currently pay premiums by check.
- 4. The A&M System will report enrollment and premium amounts for new retirees, survivors and active employees going on leave without pay to the chosen vendor on a weekly basis.

### 5.2 Current Billing Procedure

- 1. If an employee terminates from a benefits-eligible position, works for another System member in a non-benefits-eligible position and subsequently retires, the System member that last employed the individual in a benefits-eligible position is responsible for the employer portion of the State Group Insurance Premium (SGIP). For the most part, retirees are eligible for SGIP for medical coverage but not for Vision or Dental coverage, similar to employees.
- 2. A retiree may pay his/her premiums yearly, semiannually, quarterly or monthly by billing; or monthly, through bank draft.
- 3. In April, a letter is sent to all billed participants reminding them of the availability of the bank draft option and giving instructions on how to enroll in that option.
- 4. Billing procedures are as follows:
  - Bills are run approximately 10 days before the end of the month for premiums due the first of the next month and sent to System members for them to mail to participants.
  - Past-due notices are run on the fifth of the month (or the next working day) for late premiums.
  - Cancellation notices are run the Wednesday before the next set of bills is run. Notices of termination of coverage are sent to the carriers the following Wednesday before the end of the month in which the premium is due, cancelling coverage as of the end of the previous month.
- 5. If a retiree has health coverage or has declined health coverage but has optional coverage paid by SGIP and fails to pay his/her portion of the premium, his/her coverage will be defaulted to the highest level of coverage that can be purchased by the available SGIP. In the case of health coverage, it will be cancelled.
- 6. If a retiree is late on his/her premium payments and wants to pay the unpaid premiums and be reinstated, the Human Resources Office should send the retiree a letter stating that coverage

will be reinstated if the unpaid premiums are paid but, if the premiums are not paid again, the coverage will be cancelled. A copy of this letter should be sent to System Benefits Administration for inclusion in the retiree's master file.

7. If the retiree has missed a number of months of coverage, he/she may attempt to re-enroll during annual enrollment. Requiring such things as a cashier's check and making sure they understand that this is not something they can do every year is in-line with good auditing practices.

### 5.3 Cancellation for Non-Payment of Premiums

If an employee is cancelled for non-payment of premiums and wants to re-enroll during the Annual Enrollment period, he/she can choose to either:

- Pay the owed premium amount and be allowed to re-enroll, or
- Agree to a 60-day waiting period before receiving the SGIP.

# 5.4 Data entry: Reinstatement of Coverage Due to Cancellation

If the employee pays the owed premium amounts:

- Verify that past due premiums have been received and entered on the billing screen. Due date should be current. Partial past due amounts should not be accepted for reinstatement of coverage.
- Coverage, when reinstated, should appear as it did prior to coverage being cancelled. Enter
  coverage and dates as they appear in history. The due date is the only date that needs to be
  updated.

### 5.5 Services that will continue to be maintained by the A&M System

- 1. Managing eligibility and enrollment for this group
- 2. Notifications to new retirees, and retirees aging into Medicare
- 3. Managing life event changes and annual enrollment for this group
- 4. Providing files of enrollment and enrollment changes to the carriers
- 5. Providing files of premium amounts to the selected vendor
- 6. Premiums amounts to be sent to the vision and dental HMO vendors

### 5.6 New Required Vendor Services

The billing services vendor will be required to:

- 1. Collect and record the premium payments,
- 2. Administer the A&M System's late payment schedule, including reminders and termination for non-payment,
- 3. Include delinquent payments on the current month premium bill,
- 4. Terminate coverage for retirees who fail to pay premiums,

- 5. Document premiums collected and delinquent payers,
- 6. Report payments received and outstanding member balances, if any,
- 7. Reconcile the bank account before reimbursing the A&M System for the premiums received,
- 8. Report delinquent and insufficient payments to the A&M System,
- 9. Maintain documentation including proof of notification and payment dates,
- 10. Provide customer service support for direct billing and bank draft inquiries,
- 11. Provide annual "Change in Amount" notices for those on bank draft,
- 12. Provide annual "Bank Draft Invitation" notices for those on billing

### SECTION 6 – COBRA Billing

### 6.1 Current Status of COBRA billing

COBRA administration is jointly handled by the A&M System and by each individual vendor.

There are currently approximately 24,000 employees with benefits. Approximately 300-400 of those are enrolled in COBRA coverage at any given time. There are about 2,000 to 3,000 new hires in a 12-month period, clustered around late summer-fall and December-January.

The A&M System currently provides the employee/dependent with the initial COBRA notification as well as the notification at the time of the qualifying event. When an individual elects COBRA coverage, if they wish to continue any of the three coverages (medical, dental or vision), they submit an enrollment form to their A&M System Human Resource Office. Office personnel enter the information into the database, causing the information to be sent on the next weekly eligibility file. Each respective carrier is then responsible for the billing and collection, as well as the termination notice. The A&M System receives a monthly list of individuals no longer covered through COBRA in order that our records remain consistent with the carrier's.

1. If an employee is terminated from employment or a dependent reaches age 26, a COBRA form is automatically generated and the HR office downloads and sends it to the employee. If the employee's hours are reduced to less than 50% effort or the employee or retiree dies, the Human Resources Office or academic/administrative office can:

Give the COBRA Form (written acknowledgment of receipt must be obtained from the employee and provided to the Benefits Administration Office for imaging) to the:

- Employee at the time of termination.
- Employee within 44 days of the beginning of the reduced-hour schedule.
- Surviving spouse or dependent within 44 days of the employee's or retiree's death.

OR

Mail the COBRA Form, using the last known address, to the:

- Employee within 44 days of termination.
- Employee within 44 days of the beginning of the reduced-hour schedule.
- Surviving spouse or dependent within 44 days of the employee's or retiree's death.
- 2. For death of the employee, the survivor(s) is sent either the COBRA form or the Survivor Health/Dental/Vision Continuation Form, depending on the age and length of service of the former employee.
- 3. The Human Resources Office notifies employees beginning leave without pay (LWOP), in writing and orally, that COBRA coverage runs concurrently to the coverage available to them as employees on LWOP. If an employee continues coverage and is subsequently terminated, he/she should be given a COBRA election at that time for a period up to 18 months from the beginning of LWOP (the initial qualifying event). However, if an employee is on leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), the COBRA event does not occur until FMLA has ended. If an employee declines or cancels coverage while on LWOP, COBRA rights should not be extended.

# 6.2 Carrier responsibilities current enrollment

Using the weekly COBRA eligibility report, carriers generate a billing statement for the initial COBRA premium payment and will mail the statement to the employee.

After 30 days of nonpayment, carriers provide a written termination of benefits notice to participants, allowing them a 10-day grace period for premium payment.

Carriers also provide a monthly list of all COBRA participants to System Benefits Administration for reconciliation purposes. The information is forwarded to Human Resource Offices so adjustments can be made in A&M's IT system of record.

COBRA participants are given the opportunity, during annual enrollment, to elect medical dental or vision coverage even if they are not currently enrolled. However, the length of time they can have that coverage is still 18 or 36 months for their original COBRA event, not from the start of their new coverage. They can also change carriers and add or drop dependents to their coverage.

### 6.3 Services that will continue to be maintained by the A&M System

1. Premium amounts to be sent to vision and dental HMO vendors

### 6.4 New Required Vendor Services

- 1. General notices to new hires and newly enrolled employees and spouses
- 2. Qualifying event notices to employees, spouses and dependent children
- 3. Premium coupons/ACH authorization for new COBRA participants
- 4. Tracking election timelines
- 5. Collect and record the premium payments
- 6. Termination letters when COBRA coverage is cancelled
- 7. Advance notice to participants whose coverage period is ending
- 8. Enrollment reports to the carriers and to the A&M System
- 9. Reconcile the bank account before reimbursing Texas A&M for the premiums collected
- 10. Documentation maintenance, including proof of notification and response dates
- 11. Customer service support

### Also included:

- Transitioning beneficiaries who are in their election period
- Arranging enrollment transmission methods to the carriers,
- File testing prior to production
- Collecting A&M System benefit information to use for Annual Enrollment.

### **SECTION 7 – EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS**

### 7.1 Evaluation Information

Proposals submitted in response to this RFP shall be evaluated on the basis of the criteria listed below. The list of criteria is not exhaustive and is not listed in order of importance. While the criteria shall provide the basis for an objective evaluation of each proposal, the experience and judgment of the SORMBA staff and the evaluation committee shall also be important in the selection process.

- Compliance with the requirements listed in the RFP
- Vendor License
- Financial Strength and Stability
- Administrative Capability
- Past experience
- Customer/Member services
- Costs
- Organizational flexibility
- References
- Finalist presentations
- Site visits

The A&M System is not required to select the lowest priced proposal, but will take into consideration other factors such as those enumerated above.

The A&M System may cancel this RFP or reject proposals at any time prior to an award, and is not required to furnish a statement of the reasons why a particular proposal was not deemed to be the most advantageous. The selection of the successful proposal may be made by the A&M System on the basis of the proposals initially submitted, without discussion, clarification, or modification. In the alternative, selection of the successful proposal may be made by the A&M System on the basis of negotiation with any of the Proposers. The A&M System shall not disclose any information derived from the proposals submitted by competing Proposers in conducting such discussions.

All proposals must be complete and convey all the information requested to be considered responsive. If the proposal fails to conform to the essential requirements of the RFP, the A&M System alone will determine whether the variance is significant enough to consider the proposal susceptible to being made acceptable and therefore a candidate for further consideration, or not susceptible to being made acceptable and therefore not considered for award.

The A&M System reserves the right to check references prior to award. Any negative responses received may be grounds for disqualification of the proposal.

# EXHIBIT A EXECUTION OF OFFER

### RFP01 RISK-16-016 DATE:

In compliance with this RFP, and subject to all the conditions herein, the undersigned agrees to furnish any or all commodities or services.

### A.1 RESPONDENT Affirmation

NOTE TO RESPONDENTS: SUBMIT ENTIRE SECTION WITH RESPONSE.

This execution of offer must be completed, signed, and returned with the RESPONDENT's qualifications. Failure to complete, sign and return this execution of offer with the qualifications may result in rejection of the qualifications.

Signing a false statement may void the submitted qualifications or any agreements or other contractual arrangements, which may result from the submission of RESPONDENT's qualifications. A false certification shall be deemed a material breach of contract and, at owner's option, may result in termination of any resulting contract or purchase order.

Addenda Acknowledgment: Receipt is hereby acknowledged of the following addenda to this RFP by entering yes or no in space provided and indicating date acquired. Enter "0" if none received.

No. 1	Date	
No. 2	Date	

### A.2 Signature

By signing below, the RESPONDENT hereby certifies as follows, and acknowledges that such certifications will be included in any resulting contract:

- (i) the Qualifications and all statements and information prepared and submitted in response to this RFP are current, complete, true and correct;
- (ii) it is not given, nor intends to give at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount trip, favor or service to a public servant in connection with the submitted Qualifications or any subsequent proposal. Failure to sign below, or signing a false statement, may void the Response or any resulting contracts at the Owner's option, and the RESPONDENT may be removed from all future proposal lists at this state agency;
- (iii) the individual signing this document and the documents made part of the RFP is authorized to sign such documents on behalf of the RESPONDENT and to bind the RESPONDENT under any contract which may result from the submission of the Response;
- (iv) no relationship, whether as a relative, business associate, by capital funding agreement or by any other such kinship exists between RESPONDENT and an officer or employee of The Texas A&M University System;
- (v) RESPONDENT has not been an employee of the A&M System within the immediate twelve (12) months prior to the RFP response;
- (vi) no compensation has been received for participation in the preparation of this RFP (ref. Section 2155.004 Texas Government Code);
- (vii) all services to be provided in response to this RFP will meet or exceed the safety standards established and promulgated under the Federal Occupational Safety and Health law (Public Law 91-596) and its regulations in effect as of the date of this solicitation;
- (viii) RESPONDENT complies with all federal laws and regulations pertaining to Equal Employment Opportunities and Affirmative Action;

- (ix) to the best of its knowledge, no member of the Board of Regents of The Texas A&M University System, or the Executive Officers of The Texas A&M University System or its member institutions or agencies, has a financial interest, directly or indirectly, in the Project;
- (x) each individual or business entity proposed by RESPONDENT as a member of its team that will engage in the practice of billing and collection will be selected based on demonstrated competence and qualifications only;
- (xi) if the RESPONDENT is subject to the Texas franchise tax, it is not currently delinquent in the payment of any franchise tax due under Chapter 171, Texas Tax Code, or is exempt from the payment of such taxes. A false certification may result in the RESPONDENT's disqualification;
- (xii) under Section 231.006, Family Code, the vendor or applicant certifies that the individual or business entity named in this contract, bid, or application is not ineligible to receive the specified grant, loan, or payment and acknowledges that this contract may be terminated and payment may be withheld if this certification is inaccurate; and,
- (xiii) under Section 2155.006, Government Code, the vendor certifies that the individual or business entity named in this bid or contract is not ineligible to receive the specified contract and acknowledges that this contract may be terminated and payment withheld if this certification is inaccurate.

RESPONDENT should give Payee Identification Number (PIN) (Formally Vendor ID), full firm name and address of Vendor (enter in block provided if not shown). Failure to manually sign submittal will disqualify it. The person signing the submittal should show title or authority to bind his/her firm in contract. The Payee Identification Number is the taxpayer number assigned and used by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of Texas. Enter this number in the spaces provided on the Execution of Offer.

Payee Identification Number (PIN):	
Sole Owner should also enter Social Security Number:	
Vendor/Company:	
Signature (INK):	
Name:	
Title:	
Street:	
City/State/Zip:	
Telephone No.:	
Fax No.:	
E-mail:	

THIS SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED, SIGNED, AND RETURNED WITH RESPONDENT'S SUBMISSION. FAILURE TO SIGN AND RETURN THIS SHEET WILL RESULT IN THE REJECTION OF YOUR SUBMISSION.

<sup>\*</sup> By signing this RFP, RESPONDENT certifies that if a Texas address is shown as the address of the RESPONDENT, RESPONDENT qualifies as a Texas Resident Bidder as defined in Texas Government Code, § 2252.001(4)

### EXHIBIT B – NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT RFP01 RISK-16-016

The undersigned, duly authorized to represent the persons, firms and corporations joining and participating in the submission of the foregoing Proposal (such persons, firms and corporations hereinafter being referred to as the "RESPONDENT"), being duly sworn, on his or her oath, states that to the best of his or her belief and knowledge no person, firm or corporation, nor any person duly representing the same joining and participating in the submission of the foregoing Proposal, has directly or indirectly entered into any agreement or arrangement with any other RESPONDENTS, or with any official of The Texas A&M University System ("A & M System") or any employee thereof, or any person, firm or corporation under contract with A & M System whereby the RESPONDENT, in order to induce acceptance of the foregoing Proposal by said A & M System, has paid or is to pay to any other RESPONDENT or to any of the aforementioned persons anything of value whatever, and that the RESPONDENT has not, directly or indirectly entered into any arrangement or agreement with any other RESPONDENT or RESPONDENTS which tends to or does lessen or destroy free competition in the letting of the contract sought for by the foregoing Proposal.

The RESPONDENT hereby certifies that neither it, its officers, partners, owners, providers, representatives, employees and parties in interest, including the affiant, have in any way colluded, conspired, connived or agreed, directly or indirectly, with any other RESPONDENT, potential RESPONDENT, firm or person, in connection with this solicitation, to submit a collusive or sham bid, to refrain from bidding, to manipulate or ascertain the price(s) of other RESPONDENTS or potential RESPONDENTS, or to obtain through any unlawful act an advantage over other RESPONDENTS or A & M System.

The prices submitted herein have been arrived at in an entirely independent and lawful manner by the RESPONDENT without consultation with other RESPONDENTS or potential RESPONDENTS or foreknowledge of the prices to be submitted in response to this solicitation by other RESPONDENTS or potential RESPONDENTS on the part of the RESPONDENT, its officers, partners, owners, providers, representatives, employees or parties in interest, including the affiant.

### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The undersigned RESPONDENT and each person signing on behalf of the RESPONDENT certifies, and in the case of a sole proprietorship, partnership or corporation, each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of perjury, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, no member of A & M System, nor any employee, or person, whose salary is payable in whole or in part by A & M System, has a direct or indirect financial interest in the award of this Proposal, or in the services to which this Proposal relates, or in any of the profits, real or potential, thereof, except as noted otherwise herein.

Signature	-	
Company Name		
Date		
	Subscribed and sworn to before me this	_
	day of, 201	6.
Notary Public in	and for the County of	, State of
	My commission expires:	

### **EXHIBIT C – COMPANY PROFILE**

- a. Please provide the following:
  - Legal Name
  - DBA Name
  - Number of Years in Business
  - Type of Operation (i.e., Individual, Partnership, Corporation)
  - Number of Employees
  - Annual Revenues
- b. Provide a general overview of the company, including where the company is headquartered, if it has a major base of operation in Texas, and if it has operated under other names.
- c. Include a narrative history of the firm and its background in providing employee group benefits. Explain the added value or service that your organization provides that distinguishes it from all others.
- d. Provide a copy of your company's audited financial statements for the past two (2) years.
- e. Provide a financial rating of your company and any documentation (such as a Dunn and Bradstreet Analysis) which indicates the financial stability of your company.
- f. Describe your company's disaster recovery and contingency plans. Have you ever tested or actually implemented these plans?
- g. Is your company currently for sale or involved in any transaction to expand or to become acquired by another business entity? If yes, please explain the impact both in organizational and directional terms.
- h. Provide details of all past or pending litigation or claims filed against your company that would negatively impact your company's performance under an agreement with the A&M System.
- i. Is your company currently in default on any loan agreement or financing agreement with any bank, financial institution, or other entity. If yes, specify date(s), details, circumstances, and prospects for resolution.

### **EXHIBIT D – QUESTIONNAIRE**

Complete the attached questionnaire as instructed and include it in Section k. of your RFP response.

### **General Instructions**

- 1. When responding, please restate the question and provide your answer immediately thereafter.
- 2. Do not change the format of the Questionnaire. Do not change the numbering system within the Questionnaire. Do not leave any question blank. Do not change any questions. Do not provide an answer such as "it is in another exhibit" or "can be found under another question."
- 3. Provide all exhibits requested in the Questionnaire at the end of the Questionnaire.
- 4. Fees, expense schedules, charges, and management arrangements must be guaranteed for the initial three-year period through August 31, 2019.
- 5. Please base quantitative responses on the 12 months ending August 31, 2015, or the most recent 12-month period available, unless otherwise specified.
- 6. The A&M System operates on a fiscal year beginning September 1 and ending August 31.

### **Background Information**

- 1. Where will the account representative be located? Will this individual have responsibility for other clients? If yes, how many?
  - Please provide the URL for your web site.
- 2. Would your employees use a secure e-mail system to communicate with A&M System benefit staff and, if so, what system do you use? Would you be able to establish a secure TLS channel between the two organizations?

### Administration

- 1. Please provide the location of the office where the following functions are performed and note how long the office has been in operation.
  - a. Account Manager/Account Representative
  - b. Customer service
  - c. Web site management

### **Customer Service**

- 1. How would you monitor and control the level of service provided to A&M System employees?
- 2. Do you provide any automated customer service via voice response for routine questions?
- 3. Please identify the number of bilingual customer service personnel that will be assigned to the A&M System account. Identify languages spoken.
- 4. Does your organization conduct member and/or provider satisfaction surveys? Please provide a copy of the survey questionnaire and the results of the most recent surveys.

### **Eligibility**

- 1. Who has the ability to alter eligibility information in your organizational structure?
- 2. Does your system accept future start and termination dates for participants?

- 3. What is the turnaround time goal for loading eligibility information? What has your actual performance been for the last six months?
- 4. When an employee/dependent is retroactively terminated due to their being enrolled in error, does this pose any system problems for your organization?
- 5. What is the length of the street address field in your system?
- 6. Please provide the specific data elements that are accepted in regard to dependent information.
- 7. The A&M System will require the selected vendor to use the A&M System generated unique identifying number (UIN) rather than a social security number for all participants on all documents.

The A&M System has assigned each employee, retiree, and dependent an internally unique identifier (a 9-digit number with the 4<sup>th</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> digits equal to 0.) The A&M System has the capability to pass both the SSN and the unique identifier on the eligibility file. Verify your willingness to use the A&M System unique identifier as the primary identification for individuals, customer service, and provider calls. In addition to our UIN, will you be able to also store social security numbers in the event an individual/provider does not have the UIN available?

8. The A&M System is working with Deloitte as a partner to assist with implementation of Workday, a replacement Human Capital Management System. Administration of benefits is included in this conversion. Does your organization currently have a relationship with Workday?

### **Performance Guarantees**

- 1. Are you willing to put some amount of fees at risk and how much for:
  - Customer Service standards,
  - Other

What methodology and standards would you propose for calculating and reporting this information?

### **Management Reporting**

- 1. Please describe your data analysis and reporting capabilities.
- 2. Please provide a list and a brief explanation of your standard reports including frequency of production and availability following the close of the reporting period. Are reports available electronically? The A&M System expects the standard report package to be provided at no additional cost.
- 3. Does your organization offer online access for SORMBA management to run management or utilization reports, eliminating the need for paper reports and allowing immediate access? Please describe what is available online and if there is an additional cost for such services.

### **Quality Assurance**

1. What is the name of the senior executive who is responsible for the Quality Assurance program?

### **Implementation**

1. How much lead-time would you need to implement the program from the time you are selected? Please provide a detailed timetable for implementation based on a sample May 1, 2017 start date.

2. Describe the services you will furnish with respect to installation of the services, and for maintenance.

# **Samples**

- 1. Please provide samples of the following:
  - a. Standard communications (including bills, denial letters)
  - b. Standard (no additional cost) management reports

# **Banking Arrangements**

1. Describe your proposed banking arrangement/payment transfer and reconciliation procedures.

# **Subcontracting**

1. Are any activities subcontracted? If so, please provide the subcontractors name, services performed and detailed information describing under what circumstances subcontractors are used? Make certain you comply with *Section 3.4 j.* of this RFP.

### **Value Added Benefits**

1. What type of value added benefits might be available to A&M System employees?

# EXHIBIT E - THE TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY SYSTEM HIPAA BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

This Agreement is between **THE TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY SYSTEM**, and XXXXX. In consideration of the mutual benefits to be derived by both parties and in accordance with applicable state and federal laws, the parties hereto agree as follows.

- I) <u>Definitions:</u> Terms used, but not otherwise defined, in this Agreement shall have the same meanings as those terms in the Privacy Rule.
  - A. Business Associate. "Business Associate" shall mean XXXXX.
  - B. <u>Covered Entity.</u> "Covered Entity" shall mean **THE TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY SYSTEM.**
  - C. <u>Individual.</u> "Individual" shall have the same meaning as the term "individual" in 45 CFR §164.501 and shall include a person who qualifies as a personal representative in accordance with 45 CFR §164.502(g).
  - D. <u>Privacy Rule.</u> "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information at 45 CFR Part 160 and Part 164, Subparts A and E.
  - E. <u>Protected Health Information</u>. "Protected Health Information" shall have the same meaning as the term "protected health information" in 45 CFR §164.501, limited to information created or received by Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity.
  - F. Required by Law. "Required by Law" shall have the same meaning as the term "required by law" in 45 CFR §164.501.
  - G. <u>Secretary</u>. "Secretary" shall mean the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services or his designee.

# II) Obligations and Activities of Business Associate

- A. Business Associate agrees not to use or disclose Protected Health Information other than as permitted or required by the Agreement or as Required By Law.
- B. Business Associate agrees to use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of Protected Health Information other than as provided by this Agreement.
- C. Business Associate agrees to mitigate, to the extent practicable, any harmful effect that is known to Business Associate of a use or disclosure of Protected Health Information by Business Associate in violation of the requirements of this Agreement.
- D. Business Associate agrees to report to Covered Entity any use or disclosure of the Protected Health Information not provided for by this Agreement of which it becomes aware.
- E. Business Associate will report to Covered Entity, the discovery of any "Breach" of "Unsecured Protected Health Information" as these terms are defined by HITECH. Business Associate shall cooperate with Covered Entity in investigating the Breach and in meeting the Covered Entity's obligation under HITECH and any other security breach

notification laws. Any such report shall include the identification (if known) of each individual whose Unsecured Protected Health Information has been, or is reasonably believed by Business Associate to have been, accessed, acquired, or disclosed during such Breach as required by law.

- F. Business Associate agrees to provide the services described in subsections a through i below as required by the HITECH Act, DHHS regulation and DHHS guidance.
  - a. Investigate any unauthorized access, use, or disclosure of member protected health information (PHI).
  - b. Determine whether there is a significant risk of financial, reputational or other harm to any member as provided for in the HITECH Act.
  - c. Determine whether the incident falls under any of the HITECH Act Security Breach notification exceptions.
  - d. Document and retain each HITECH Security Breach risk assessment and exception analyses, and make this information available to members upon request.
  - e. Provide Covered Entity with written notification that describes the HITECH Security Breach incident in detail including a list of the impacted members and/or a copy of a member notification.
  - f. Notify each member impacted by the HITECH Security Breach by first class mail within the applicable statutory notification period, and provide toll-free numbers to the impacted members in order to handle any member questions regarding the incident. The notification will include the following:
    - 1. A brief description of the incident, including the date of the Security Breach and the date it was discovered;
    - 2. A description of the types of PHI involved in the Security Breach (i.e., name, birth date, home address, account number, Social Security Number, etc.)
    - 3. The steps that individuals might take to protect themselves from potential harm
    - 4. A brief description of what is being done to mitigate the harm and to avoid further incidents.
  - g. Provide a substitute notice, as described in the HITECH Act, to impacted members if there is insufficient mailing address information
  - h. Maintain a log and submit to DHHS an annual report of Security Breaches that impact fewer than 500 members Notify DHHS immediately, in the event the Security Breach impacts more than 500 individuals.
  - i. Notify media when required under the HITECH ACT and alert Covered Entity if any such notifications are needed.
- G. Business Associate agrees to ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom it provides Protected Health Information received from, or created or received by Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity agrees to the same restrictions and conditions that apply through this Agreement to Business Associate with respect to such information.
- H. Business Associate agrees to provide access, at the request of Covered Entity and in a time and manner to be mutually agreed upon by the parties, to Protected Health Information in a Designated Record Set, to Covered Entity or, as directed by Covered Entity, to an Individual in order to meet the requirements under 45 CFR §164.524.
- Business Associate agrees to make any amendment(s) to Protected Health Information in a
  Designated Record Set that the Covered Entity directs or agrees to pursuant to 45 CFR

§164.526 at the request of Covered Entity or an Individual in the time and manner mutually agreed to by the parties. When Covered Entity grants an individual's request for amendment, Covered Entity shall provide the granted amendment to Business Associate.

- J. Business Associate agrees to make internal practices, books, and records, including policies and procedures, relating to the use and disclosure of Protected Health Information received from, or created or received by Business Associate on behalf of, Covered Entity available to Covered Entity, or to the Secretary, in the time and manner mutually agreed to by the parties for purposes of the Secretary determining Covered Entity's compliance with the Privacy Rule.
- K. Business Associate agrees to document such disclosures of Protected Health Information and information related to such disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to a request by an Individual for an accounting of disclosures of Protected Health Information in accordance with 45 CFR §164.528.
- L. Business Associate agrees to provide to Covered Entity or an Individual in the time and manner mutually agreed to by the parties information collected in accordance with this Agreement, to permit Covered Entity to respond to a request by an Individual for an accounting of disclosures of Protected Health Information in accordance with 45 CFR §164.528.
- M. When Business Associate conducts Standard Transactions on behalf of Covered Entity, Business Associate will comply with the HIPAA requirements for Standard Transactions and Data Code Sets.

### III) Permitted Uses and Disclosures by Business Associate

### 1. General Use and Disclosure Conditions

Except as otherwise limited in this Agreement, Business Associate may use or disclose Protected Health Information to perform functions, activities, or services for, or on behalf of, Covered Entity as specified in agreements or arrangements between the parties, provided that such use or disclosure would not violate the Privacy Rule if done by Covered Entity or the minimum necessary policies and procedures of the Covered Entity, or Business Associate's independent duties under the Privacy Rule.

### 2. Specific Use and Disclosure Provisions

- a. Except as otherwise limited in this Agreement, Business Associate may use Protected Health Information for the proper management and administration of the Business Associate or to carry out the legal responsibilities of the Business Associate.
- b. Except as otherwise limited in this Agreement, Business Associate may disclose Protected Health Information for the proper management and administration of the Business Associate, provided that disclosures are Required by Law, or Business Associate obtains reasonable assurances from the person to whom the information is disclosed that it will remain confidential and used or further disclosed only as Required by Law or for the purpose for which it was disclosed to the person, and the person notifies the Business Associate of any instances of

- which it is aware in which the confidentiality of the information has been breached.
- c. Except as otherwise limited in this Agreement, Business Associate may use Protected Health Information to provide Data Aggregation services to Covered Entity as permitted by 45 CFR §164.504(e)(2)(i)(B).
- d. Business Associate may use Protected Health Information to report violations of law to appropriate Federal and State authorities, consistent with §164.502(j)(1).

# IV) Obligations of Covered Entity

- A. Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any limitation(s) in its notice of privacy practices of Covered Entity in accordance with 45 CFR §164.520, to the extent that such limitation may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of Protected Health Information.
- B. Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any changes in, or revocation of, permission by Individual to use or disclose Protected Health Information, to the extent that such changes may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of Protected Health Information.
- C. Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any restriction to the use or disclosure of Protected Health Information that Covered Entity has agreed to in accordance with 45 CFR §164.522, to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of Protected Health Information.
- D. Covered Entity acknowledges that an Individual may request a restriction on the Use or Disclosure of Protected Health Information in accordance with 45 CFR §164.522 and agrees that if such restriction would affect Business Associate's Use or Disclosure of Protected Health Information, Covered Entity will exercise its discretion and shall deny the Individual's request. Prior to responding to an Individual's request Covered Entity shall ask Business Associate if the proposed restriction will affect its functions, activities, or services under the Agreement.
- E. If Covered Entity or Business Associate receives a request from an Individual for confidential communication of Protected Health Information by alternative means or at alternative locations in accordance with 45 CFR §164.522(b), Covered Entity prior to responding to such a request shall ask Business Associate for information on the feasibility of implementing or accommodating the request and on whether there may be an additional cost. Covered Entity shall promptly notify Business Administrator of its decision on the request for confidential communication of Protected Health Information.
- F. If or when Covered Entity transmits information electronically to Business Associate or Covered Entity's Business Associates, Covered Entity shall comply with HIPAA requirements for Standard Transactions and Data Code sets.

# V) Permissible Requests by Covered Entity

Covered Entity shall not request Business Associate to use or disclose Protected Health Information in any manner that would not be permissible under the Privacy Rule if done by Covered Entity.

# VI) Term and Termination

- A. <u>Term.</u> This Agreement shall be effective as of \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2016 and shall terminate when all of the Protected Health Information provided by Covered Entity to Business Associate, or created or received by Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity, is destroyed or returned to Covered Entity, or, if it is infeasible to return or destroy Protected Health Information, protections are extended to such information, in accordance with the provisions in this Section.
- B. <u>Termination for Cause.</u> Upon Covered Entity's knowledge of a material breach by Business Associate, Covered Entity shall either:
  - a. Provide an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the breach or end the violation and terminate this Agreement if Business Associate does not cure the breach or end the violation within the time specified by Covered Entity;
  - b. Immediately terminate this Agreement if Business Associate had breached a material term of this Agreement and cure is not possible; or
  - c. If neither termination nor cure are feasible, Covered Entity shall report the violation to the Secretary.

### C. Effect of Termination

- a. Except as provided in paragraph b of this section, upon termination of this Agreement, for any reason, Business Associate shall return or destroy all Protected Health Information received from Covered Entity, or created or received by Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity. This provision shall apply to Protected Health Information that is in the possession of subcontractors or agents of Business Associate. Business Associate shall retain no copies of the Protected Health Information.
- b. If returning or destroying the Protected Health Information is not feasible, Business Associate shall provide to Covered Entity written notification of the conditions that make return or destruction infeasible, and Business Associate shall extend the protections of this Agreement to such Protected Health Information, limiting further uses and disclosures of such Protected Health Information to those purposes that make the return or destruction infeasible, for so long as Business Associate maintains such Protected Health Information.

### VII) Miscellaneous

- A. <u>Regulatory References</u>. A reference in this Agreement to a section in the Privacy Rule means the section as in effect or as amended.
- B. <u>Amendment.</u> The Parties agree to take such action as is necessary to amend this Agreement from time to time as is necessary for Covered Entity to comply with the requirements of the Privacy Rule and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability

Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-191.

- C. <u>Survival.</u> The respective rights and obligations of Business Associate under Section VI.C of this Agreement shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
- D. <u>Interpretation.</u> Any ambiguity in this Agreement shall be resolved to permit Covered Entity to comply with the Privacy Rule.
- E. <u>Execution and modification</u>. This Agreement is binding only when signed by both parties. Any modifications or amendment must be in writing and signed by both parties.
- F. <u>Assignment.</u> This Agreement, with the rights and privileges it creates, is assignable only with the written consent of both parties.
- G. <u>Force majeure.</u> Each party shall be excused from any breach of this Agreement which is proximately caused by government regulation, war, strike, act of God, or other similar circumstance normally deemed outside the control of well-managed businesses.
- H. <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all other written and oral agreements between the parties with respect to such. It is acknowledged that other contracts may be executed. Such other agreements are not intended to change or alter this Agreement unless expressly stated in writing.
- I. <u>Governing Law.</u> This Agreement is construed under the laws of Texas. Venue is in Brazos County, Texas.
- J. <u>Independent Business Associate Status.</u> This Agreement will not be construed as creating an employer/employee relationship between Covered Entity and Business Associate.
- K. <u>Headings</u>. Headings appear solely for convenience of reference. Such headings are not part of this Agreement and shall not be used to construe it.
- L. <u>Provisions.</u> If any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
- M. <u>Notice</u>. Any notices required by this Agreement shall be delivered to the following addresses:

### **Covered Entity**

### **Business Associate**

Ms. Ellen Gerescher Employee Benefits Manager Moore/Connally Building 301 Tarrow, 5<sup>th</sup> Floor College Station, TX 77840 Name Title Address Line 1 Address Line 2 Address Line 3

### I) Mandatory Dispute Resolution

- A) To the extent Chapter 2260, Texas Government Code, as it may be amended from time to time ("Chapter 2260") is applicable to this Agreement, and is not preempted by other applicable law, the dispute resolution process provided for in Chapter 2260 of the Government Code shall be used, as further described herein, by Covered Entity and Business Associate in attempts to resolve any claim for breach of contract made by Business Associate:
  - 1) Business Associate's claim for breach of this Agreement that the parties cannot resolve pursuant to other provisions of this Agreement or in the ordinary course of business shall be submitted to the negotiation process provided in subchapter B of Chapter 2260. To initiate the process, Business Associate must submit written notice as required by subchapter B of Chapter 2260, to Covered Entity in accordance with the notice provisions in this Agreement. Business Associate's notice shall specifically state that the provisions of subchapter B of Chapter 2260 are being invoked, the date and nature of the event giving rise to the claim, the specific contract provision that Covered Entity allegedly breached, the amount of damages Business Associate seeks, and the method used to calculate the damages. Compliance by Business Associate with subchapter B of Chapter 2260 is a required prerequisite to Business Associate's filing of a contested case proceeding under subchapter C of Chapter 2260. The Executive Vice Chancellor and Chief Financial Officer, or such other officer of Covered Entity as may be designated from time to time by Covered Entity by written notice thereof to Business Associate in accordance with the notice provisions in this Agreement, shall examine Business Associate's claim and any counterclaim and negotiate with Business Associate in an effort to resolve such claims.
  - 2) If the parties are unable to resolve their disputes under subparagraph (1) of this Section, the contested case process provided in subchapter C of Chapter 2260 is Business Associate's sole and exclusive process for seeking a remedy for any and all of Business Associate's claims for breach of this Agreement by Covered Entity.
- B) Compliance with the contested case process provided in subchapter C of Chapter 2260 is a required prerequisite to seeking consent to sue from the Legislature under Chapter 107 of the Civil Practices and Remedies Code. The parties specifically agree (i) neither the execution of this Agreement by Covered Entity nor any other conduct, action or inaction or any representative of Covered Entity relating to this Agreement constitutes or is intended to constitute a waiver of Covered Entity's or the State of Texas' sovereign immunity to suit, and (ii) Covered Entity has not waived its right to seek redress in the courts.
- C) The submission, processing and resolution of Business Associate's claim is governed by the published rules adopted by the Texas Attorney General pursuant to Chapter 2260, as currently effective, hereafter enacted or subsequently amended.
- D) Neither the occurrence of an event giving rise to a breach of contract claim nor the pendency of a claim constitutes grounds for the suspension of performance by Business Associate in whole or in part. Covered Entity and Business Associate agree that any period set forth in this Agreement for notice and cure of defaults are not waived.
- E) The designated individual responsible on behalf of Covered Entity for examining any claim or counterclaim and conducting any negotiations related thereto as required under §2260.052 shall be the Executive Vice Chancellor and Chief Financial Officer.

The Texas A&M University System	Business Associate/Selected Proposer
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

# The Texas A&M University System HIPAA Business Associate Agreement

### Security Rule

### **ADDENDUM**

In addition to the Privacy Rule that safeguards protected health information (PHI), the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 also established the Security Rule which focuses specifically on electronic information. The Security Rule, effective April 20, 2005, requires that covered entities and their business associates develop and implement administrative, technical, and physical safeguards to protect participants' health information when it is maintained or transmitted electronically.

By signing below, the Covered Entity and its Business Associate agree to:

- Implement administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the Electronic PHI that it creates, receives, maintains or transmits on behalf of the covered entity as required by the Security Rule;
- Ensure that its agents (including subcontractors) who receive Electronic PHI agree to implement reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect such information; and
- Report any security incident involving our data of which it becomes aware to Ms. Ellen Gerescher, Employee Benefits Manager.

If the Covered Entity determines that the Business Associate has violated a material term of the Agreement, the Covered Entity may terminate the Agreement.

The Texas A&M University System	Selected Proposer
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date: